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In keeping with the new exhibit curated by 
Marie Djordjevich, this issue is devoted to 

the Early Italian Wine Families who settled in this 
area bringing their knowledge and know-how 
with them from the "old country". 

To start off our very capable curator Marie 
brings us a brief early history of the wine 

industry in Northern Sonoma County and then, in 
her feature article, gives us histories of the Italian 
families who dominated the wine scene, names 
very familiar today - Simi, Scatena, Oliveto, 
Seghesio, Nervo and Pedroncelli. You'll find this 
an interesting and fascinating account. 

Our assistant curator Holly Hoods gives us a 
fascinating history of the art of barrel mak­

ing - cooperage - through the history of Lldio 
Bellagio and his family. She told us that her inter­
views with members of the Bellagio family were 
extremely satisfying. 

I 1.------------, 

A history of a family through their homes can 
.ll.give you a good insight into the family and 

its history. June Maher Smith does this in her well 
researched and written article, The Foppiano 
Family and Their Homes. 

A n interesting artifact will be found on page 
l\3 - the 1923 Application for Approval of 

Bonded Winery or Bonded Storeroom Premises 
from the estate of Isabelle Simi Haigh. 

A nd lastly, there is a brief history of the game 
I\of Bocce - ll Giuoco delle Bocce, a favorite 

pastime that the Italians brought to this country 
and enjoy, more than ever, today. 

Arnold Santucci 
Editor 
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Document 

A pplication for Approval of 
1\Bonded Winery or Bonded 

Storeroom Premises 
HMC #321 from the Estate of 
Isabelle Simi Haigh 

Bonded: subjected to or secured 
by a bond or bonds; placed in a 

bonded warehouse 

Bonded warehouse: a ware­
house, certified by the govern­

ment and guaranteed by a bonding 
agency, where taxable or dutiable 
goods may be stored, with payment of 
the tax or duty deferred until the 
goods are removed. 

(thanks to Charlotte Anderson for 
her research) 

Prohibition was a constitutional 
amendment that looked to solve 

societal problems through the ban­
ning of alcohol. On October 28, 1919 
the Volstead Act made it illegal to pro­
duce or sell alcoholic beverages. In 
1920 the 18th Amendment to the 
United States Constitution made 
Prohibition the law. 

ARTIFACTS 

Wineries had difficult choices to make when Prohibition took effect. Wait it out (with the 1919 harvest in their tanks)? Give up? Sell ille­
gally? Dump the wine? All of the above were chosen at one time or another. Some wineries sold grape juice or made wine for sacra­
mental purposes. Some converted vineyards to orchards. Some closed altogether. Some dumped their wine, while others held onto it. 

As an added outrage, the wine in storage could not be sold, exported or given away, but it was taxed. Wineries had to become bonded. 

Prohibition did not work as intended. Alcoholic beverages were still being made, crime and corruption among enforcing agents was high. 
Sentiment for Repeal spread. On December 5, 1933 the 21st Amendment repealing Prohibition was passed. 
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Riverside Farm, purchased by Giovanni Foppiano in 1896 from Frank Schmidt. 

The Foppiano Family 
and Their Homes 
by June Maher Smith 

Giovanni (John) Foppiano and his descendants acquired or built 
at least four different houses near Healdsburg. Giovanni, born 

in 1844, came to America in 1861 from Genoa, Italy. His dream was 
to find gold in California. However, like so many others, he was 
unsuccessful and moved to seek his fortune in other ways. He was in 
the fruit business in San Francisco and also had a garden in San Jose. 
When he first came to Healdsburg in 1873 he grew and sold vegeta­
bles. Giovanni married Rosa Rosasco in 1877 and they became par­
ents of ten children. As time went on, he acquired more land and 
began his winery operations. 

The site of the present Foppiano Winery is part of the Sotoyome 
Rancho grant made to Henry Fitch in 1847. An 1856 deed shows the 
property in the name of Levi C. Frisbee. Eight years later the land was 
called Riverside Farm and was the residence of R. Abbey. In 1877 Ina 
B. Miller owned the land and operated Riverside Farm as a "resort for 
tourists." The Healdsburg Enterprise tells us the grounds contained 
"rare plants and shrubbery which she brought from Washington D.C." 

Giovanni purchased Riverside Farm in 1896 from Frank Schmidt. 
(There is mention of a winery with boiler on this property in 1877. 
An 1889 deed lists the winery and states it was leased to W.J. 
Hotchkiss and A.R. Galloway.) Louis A. Foppiano, Giovanni's oldest 
son, soon became involved in the family winery. 

In 1900 Louis A. became responsible for delivering the family's 
wine to accounts in the Italian North Beach area of San 

Francisco. Six years later he married Mathilda Canata, the daughter of 
one of his North Beach customers. The couple lived in the stately 

Riverside Farm house. Their son, Louis J. Foppiano, was born in this 
house in a room that currently serves as part of the winery office. 1\vo 
office walls are remnants of the original handsome residence. This is 
the office now occupied by Louis J's son, Louis M. Foppiano. 

Another parcel of land just south of the winery site was purchased 
by Louis J. Foppiano in 1945. This land included a home built in 1875 
by Israel Cook, a miner who settled in Healdsburg. Frank Schmidt 
acquired this property and established a winery here in 1889. James 
Cummiskey, founder of the Sotoyome Vineyardist Association, pur­
chased the parcel in 1914. The Foppianos closed the Sotoyome 
Vineyards winery in 1950 moving the tanks and other equipment to 
their present winery, which was built in 1937. Louis J. and his wife, 
Della, built their modem home in 1962 on the site of the old 
Sotoyome Vineyards winery. (The lumber salvaged from the disman­
tled winery provided enough material to build three homes.) 

Louis M. Foppiano grew up in the Israel Cook house, where he 
and his wife Helaine now reside. Although this home has been 

remodeled, it appears to have some of the original structure. For 
instance, the dining room was probably originally a porch. 

The family patriarch, Giovanni, built an elegant 12-room home for 
himself and his wife in 1899. It is the Queen Anne style house at 97 
Kennedy Lane, Giovanni died in this home in 1922 and Rosa died in 
1927. The family owned this property until 1944. 

There is yet another Foppiano house near the winery. This is the 
Craftsman style home facing Old Redwood Highway in front of the 
tasting room. It was built in 1918 for Louis A. Foppiano and inherit­
ed by his daughter, Rosalind Foppiano Consiglieri, in 1925. 

The Foppiano family is still very much involved in the winery 
operations. Louis J. Foppiano, Giovanni's grandson, is now 

president of Foppiano Vineyards and is at the winery daily. Louis M. 
Foppiano, Giovanni's great-grandson, is general manager. His sister, 
Susan Foppiano-Valera, is the hospitality manager. 

Even though the old Riverside Farm home is no longer standing, 
the Foppiano Vineyards' Riverside label reminds us of the past histo­
ry of this productive property. *" 
SOURCES: 
Healdsburg Historic Resources Inventory, 1983 
Historic Homes ofHealds!JUrg, 1st Edition, 1985 
Historical Alias Map of Sonoma County, California (Thos. HJ. Thompson & Co.,Oakland, Calif. 1877). 
The Foppiano Vineyards Chronology, 1996 
Louis] Foppiano, A Century ofWinegrowing in Sonoma County, 1896-1996 an oral history conducted 
in 1996 by Carole Hicke, Regional Oral History Office, The Bancroft Library, University of California, 
Berkeley, 1996. 
Abstract of Title of Riverside Farm, a part of Sotoyome Rancho, Sonoma Co., Calif. 
History of Sonoma County, California, Vol Il, Honoria Toomey (S. &J. Clarke Publishing Co., 1926) 
Interview with Helaine Foppiano, June 19, 1998 
Interview with Louis M. Foppiano, July 10, 1998. 
Healdsburg Newspapers: 

Healdslmrg Enterprise, Sept. 12, 1878, p. 3:1 
Healdsburg Enterprise, Feb. 10, 1906,p. 1:7 
The Healdsburg Tribune Week/y, Jan. 12, 1922, p. 3:1 
Sot<.ryome Scimitar, July 11, 1924, p. 1: I 
Healdsburg Enterprise, May 2, 1929, p.1:4 
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A Brief Early Wine History of 
Northern Sonoma County 
by Marie Djordjevich 

Early Viticulture 

The Spanish mission padres cultivated grape vines in lower 
California starting in the 1700s. Using the inferior Mission 

grape, they made wine for sacramental purposes. The Mexican gov­
ernment took control of California from Spain in 1812 and the last of 
the missions - Mission San Francisco de Solano in Sonoma - was 
built. 1n 1834 the mission system was secularized, and vineyards fell 
into neglect. In Sonoma General Mariano Vallejo took over the mis­
sion vineyards and proceeded to cultivate the vines. He made red 
wine with newer Mission grapes. 

1n 1812 the Russians established a permanent settlement - Fort 
Ross - north of San Francisco (30 miles north of Bodega Bay, 13 
miles northwest of the mouth of the Russian River). They brought 
European vines with them to cultivate, and by 1817 they had a flour­
ishing vineyard. These were the first grapes grown in Sonoma's soil. 

The Count 

The California wine industry got its start in the 1840s when Count 
Agoston Haraszthy, fleeing Hungary for political reasons, came 

to America. Once here he laid the foundation for a thriving industry 
with his vision, experimentation, scientific approach and persistence. 

Making his way across the country, he 
found himself in San Francisco where he 
met General Mariano Vallejo, who invited 
him to Sonoma. When Haraszthy saw the 
Sonoma Valley, with its rich soil, sunshine 
and hills he knew he had found the right 
place to grow his vines. 

1n 1857 his first wines were ready, and 
their quality exceeded his expectations. He 

built the stone Haraszthy Cellars next to a hill, with tunnels reaching 
100 feet inward to provide a constant cool environment for storing 
wine. He named the winery "Buena Vista". He started with 16 acres 
and by the mid 1860s he had 6,000 acres. 1n 1858 his wines took 
first prize at the State Fair. At the request of the California State 
Agricultural Society he wrote a treatise entitled, Report on Grapes 
and Wines in California, published in 1859. 

Haraszthy believed in the pre-eminence of wine made from import­
ed varieties. His many lectures and articles impacted the California 
wine industry. 1n 1861 he was asked by Governor John G. Downey to 
go and find cuttings which could be grown in California. Haraszthy 
planned a European vineyards and wineries tour in order to trans-

form California's "primitive viticulture into a giant industry with 
worldwide sales and unexceeded variety of unexcelled wines." 
Before he left he contracted with Harper and Brothers to write a book 
about the tour. 

,vfeile on tour he, along with son Arpad, corresponded with gov­
W ernments and scientific societies. They visited vineyards and 

wineries in France, Italy, Spain, Germany and Switzerland. They filled 
up dozens of notebooks with customs and procedures. From coun­
tries he had not been able to visit he asked U.S. Consuls to send him 
cuttings and information (i.e. Greece, Portugal, Egypt). 

He purchased 100,000 vines of at least 300 varieties. Sonoma 
County experienced a "grape rush" due to the better wines made from 
European varietals. People from all over California came for cuttings. 
Back in Sonoma, Haraszthy settled down to write his book. Published 
in 1862 it was called Grape Culture, Wines and Winemaking. This 
book, a report on the European process, became the bible for 
California vintners for the next century. 

Within 20 active years Haraszthy had helped to increase California's 
wine production fifty fold, with continuous quality improvements. His 
influence was felt throughout the industry. 

The Italians Arrive w.en Italian immigrants began arriving in the West in the mid 
o late 1800s, California was growing by leaps and bounds. 

California was now a state in the Union; the Gold Rush had caused an 
influx of people; the railroad was being constructed; and towns were 
springing up everywhere. There was a need for laborers and the 
Italians were willing workers. They worked in the lumber mills and 
canneries; established groceries, bakeries and bars. Many had agri­
cultural/farming backgrounds and once here they grew vegetables to 
sell, went to work for established ranchers and farmers, and eventu­
ally many succeeded in attaining their own ranches and successful 
agricultural and viticultural businesses.~ 

Buying from Ed Passalacgua grocery wagon. Passalacqua's vegetable gardens 
were in the Ward Street Italian district. Circa 1905 
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"A Jar in the Ground": The Story of 
Healdsburg's Early Italian Wine Families 
by Marie Djordjevich 

By the year 1885 large numbers of Italians began to leave Italy -
due to economic depression and the political situation of a 

newly unified Italy - and arrived and settled in Sonoma County. While 
a significant amount of these immigrants became involved in many 
different occupations (i.e. growing and selling vegetables; running 
and owning grocery stores, bakeries and restaurants; working in all 
aspects of agriculture), there were a significant number who brought 
with them their grape growing and winemaking skills and started 
fresh in a new land. 

The Italian immigrants coming to Sonoma County dreamt of a bet­
ter life for themselves and their families. These dreams included land 
of their own, for land meant wealth and security. They worked hard 
to earn money to purchase land, often putting the money into a jar 
(or coffee can, or the like) and burying it in the ground. They did 
this to show the land how valued it was, so that some day it would give 
back in abundance. 

Immigration and a Dream 
"Oh my! All the Italians come over cause this was a land of gold. 
You would come over, and you would find gold in the streets, but 
they found out different. The Italians really worked hard for what 
they had, believe me. " (Llllian Tedeschi Bagnani) 

Between 1880 and 1914 nearly 4 million people left Italy and came 
to America. This mass migration of Italians to America came after a 
struggle to unify Italy: for over 100 years revolutionaries fought to 
break the grip of wealthy landowners on the impoverished peasant 
class. By the 1880s land reform attempts had failed and a series of 
droughts had devastated the crops - near starvation occurred in some 
regions. Thousands of people were driven by famine and poverty to 
leave their home for a new world and new opportunities. 

Most of the first Italian immigrants to arrive came from the rich 
farmland areas of northern Italy - Tuscany, Piedmont, Llguria, 
Lombardy. A large population of Italian immigrants ended up in San 
Francisco, where they set up their own communities. A gradual 
migration of Italians to Sonoma County occurred with the realization 
that the area around Healdsburg was very similar to their Italian 
homeland, both geographically and climate-wise. Healdsburg was 
the ideal place to either put their viticultural skills to use - or to learn 
how. 

There were many Italian families and individuals that came and 
worked in and contributed to the Sonoma County wine industry 
before Prohibition. Here are a few of their stories ... 

Andrea Sbarboro, Pietro Rossi, and Italian 
Swiss Colony 

Sbarboro 
"It has been said that the men who are the most loyal to the land of 

their birth and to their countrymen are the ones who show the deep­
est love for their adopted country and in whose minds patriotism is 
ever united with humanity and brotherly compassion." 

In 1839 Andrea Sbarboro was born in Acero (50 miles from 
Genoa), Italy. In 1844 his family immigrated to the United States, and 
settled in New York. When he was 13 his parents went back to Italy, 
but he made his way to San Francisco to stay with a brother. Together 
the two of them built up a flourishing grocery business. 

Sbarboro wanted to help out his newly arriving countrymen. He 
organized many Mutual Loan Associations, and many people ( over 
2500) were able to secure homes for themselves and their families 
through these associations. Still wanting to do something to aid his 
fellow countrymen and help them with employment, he conceived the 
idea of a colony cooperative, based on the principles of the savings 
and loan industry. The original investments would be made by peo­
ple who could afford it, and the workers, through payroll deductions, 
would acquire shares in the company, and, if they wanted, convert 
their property into land. 

Please see page 7 
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Continued from page 6 

Rossi 

Pietro Rossi was born in Pagliani, Italy in 1855. His family had 
been grape growers and wine makers for generations. While in 

college he studied chemistry, and during his vacations he helped with 
the wine making, gaining more and more expenence. In 1875 Rossi 
decided to go to California. Once in San Francisco he opened up the 
Rossi Drug Store. 

In 1881, shortly after the organization of Italian Swiss Colony, 
Andrea Sbarboro invited Rossi to visit their new vineyards at Asti. 
Rossi discerned a profitable venture and joined the corporation. 
With his knowledge and background he was soon elected president 
and manager of the Colony. Under his eye and with his skills Italian 
Swiss Colony wines won many awards. It was due to his urging and 
confidence that Italian Swiss Colony endeavored to make a cham­
pagne - which eventually won high honors. 

Italian Swiss Colony 

Several Italian businessmen and professionals were approached 
by Sbarboro with his proposal. Many were interested in invest­

ing and so the colony was organized and officered. In 1881 1500 
acres of land were bought in northernmost Sonoma County, near 
Cloverdale. In a town named Asti (after the Italian Piedmont town) 
workers were settled, and in 1832 planting began. To start, the work­
ers received $30-$40 per month, plus room and board. Worker pref­
erence was given to Italians or Swiss who were or wanted to become 
U.S. citizens, because this was to be a permanent community. 

The original purpose of the colony changed in two ways soon after 
its inception. First, the Italian workers did not want to be a part of 
the investment plan. The $5 deduction in their wages caused great 
suspicion and they refused participation. Therefore, Sbarboro and 
his directors and investors carried on as any regular joint stock com­
pany. Second, the original idea of growing grapes to sell happened 
when grapes were bringing in $30 per ton. In 1886 the market col­
lapsed and by 1887 the price brought in was $8 per ton. The Italian 
Swiss Colony directors decided to enter directly into the wine busi­
ness and built a 300,000 gallon winery. 

Italian Swiss Colony gradually became successful. By organizing 
their own agencies and putting their own goods directly on the mar­
ket, they were able to ship large amounts of wine to New York, New 
Orleans and Chicago. They developed extensive vineyards and soon 
shipped to foreign markets as well. They also had a good altar wine 
market. By the tum of the century Italian Swiss Colony at Asti was the 
largest source of table wine in California, and it had a 500,000 gallon 
wine cistern that had become a California tourist destination. By 
1910 Italian Swiss Colony consisted of over 5,000 acres including 
property in other parts of California. In this year the winery capacity 
reached 14,250,000 gallons, and the stock, originally worth around 
$150,000, was now valued at $3,000,000 and growing. 

Shortly after the death of Pietro Rossi in 1911 Italian Swiss Colony 
consolidated with the California Wine Association. A few years later 
the passage of the Prohibition amendment prohibiting the sale of 
wine caused the California Wine Association to sell the wineries and 
vineyards it controlled. The Italian Swiss property at Asti was sold to 
people who were connected to it over the years in ownership or man­
agement. The properties in Asti were incorporated in 1920 and 
Italian Swiss Colony was established anew. At this time it grew grapes 
for shipping and for the manufacture of grape juice. 

Guiseppe and Pietro Simi 

Simi 
Jn 1848 Giuseppe Simi left Tuscany, Italy, and went to California to 
.llook for gold. Unsuccessful in the gold fields he headed to San 

Francisco, where he and his brother Pietro began farming. They 
drove a horse drawn wagon, supplying their lettuce and cabbage 
heads to San Francisco restaurants. In 1860 Giuseppe - who had 
grown up working in the vineyards near Florence and knew how to 
make wine - decided to try wine making. He bought a three story 
house on Green Street (the "little Italy" district in San Francisco) in 
1876. The wine cellar was in the basement, and the brothers lived 
upstairs. They bought grapes grown in the Healdsburg area, shipped 
them by wagon to Petaluma and shipped them by barge to San 
Francisco. They then sold their finished wine to San Francisco restau­
rants. 

The Healdsburg climate and terrain reminded the Simis of Tuscany. 
In 1881 they bought a winery on Front Street near Healdsburg's train 
depot and called it Montepulciano. By the next year Giuseppe had 
increased the winery capacity to 100,000 gallons. In 1883 the Simis 
bought 126 acres of land north of Healdsburg for vineyards. In 1890 
they began the building of two stone cellars, one of which had a 
200,000 gallon capacity. Since the winery was right next to the rail­
road, Simi and Montepulciano brand wines were barrel shipped to 
hotels and restaurants in San Francisco, New York and Boston. 

Please see page 8 
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Continued from page 7 

While in the middle of doubling the cellar's capacity to 400,000 
gallons in 1904 both Giuseppe and Pietro died. Giuseppe's 18 year 
old daughter Isabelle took charge of the winery and vineyard opera­
tions. At the age of 22 in 1908 Isabelle married Healdsburg 
Sotoyome Bank cashier Fred Haigh. In 1915 Fred quit his bank job 
to help Isabelle manage the winery full time. Then came Prohibition. 

During Prohibition Fred and Isabelle had to sell much of their vine­
yard land. Fred, however, refused to sell any stored wine during 
Prohibition's 14 years. When Repeal came they had over half a mil­
lion gallons of wine. The wine that did not survive was sold for 
brandy making or vinegar. At this time Isabelle decided to change the 
name of the wines from Montepulciano to simply Simi. 

Scatena °' .,fartin Scatena left Italy in 1870 at the age of 18 and ended up 
1 l' Ln San Francisco. Alone and penniless he accepted the first 

job offered to him - the running of a vegetable wagon. In 1874 
Scatena bought a ranch near Healdsburg and started a small wine cel­
lar in his home. The wine produced was shipped to San Francisco 
and sold to family trade. (The Italians that made wine at the turn of 
the century sold their wine - often made in the old country tradition -
to Italian immigrant communities and families in other cities). In 
1899 Scatena began wholesaling. That year, Scatena purchased a 
tract of land near Healdsburg upon which he started a small winery. 
In 1906 his son Frank joined him in the business, and their Roma 
Wine Company grew. By 1911 it was a large winery, with a yearly out­
put of 400,000 gallons. 

By 1936 the Scatena family was still in business, operating under 
the name the Scatena Brothers Wine Company, and managed by 
Frank and his brother, along with partner William Massoni (son of 
Lucca, Italy natives and a wine making family descendant) . The win­
ery reached a million gallon capacity and averaged shipping 600,000 
gallons of wine per month. It became known for Scatena dry wine. 

Martin Scatena 

Olive to Winery located at West Street (Healdsburg Avenue) and Powell Avenue, 
circa 1910. 

Oliveto 

D. Lorenzini was born in Italy in 1858. His family soon moved 
to Switzerland where he eventually learned how to make wine 

and brandy. In 1883 he came to the United States and worked as a 
wine maker in Napa for two years. By 1887 he had become manag­
er of a Healdsburg winery, a position which he held for two years. He 
then established his own winery along with John Gardini under the 
name of Lorenzini and Gardini. 

This partnership eventually dissolved, but the firm continued under 
the name of Franceschini and Lorenzini in 1895. This company 
became the proprietors of the Oliveto Wine Company of Healdsburg. 
By 1911 over 2000 tons of grapes were crushed by Oliveto yearly. 
Oliveto not only purchased the grapes from vineyardists in the sur­
rounding countryside, but maintained a 50 acre vineyard of its own. 
It also manufactured 10,000 gallons of brandy a year in its distillery. 

Seghesio 

Edoardo Seghesio was born in Piedmont, It~y. I~ 1886, at the 
invitation of Pietro Rossi, he came to Califonua to work at 

Italian Swiss Colony at Asti. For the first three years of his tenure he 
was not paid (except for room and board). At the end of the three 
years he was paid in one lump sum. Edoardo continued to work at 
Italian Swiss Colony and saved his money. In 1893 he married his 
boss's niece, Angela Dionisia Vasconi. 

In 1895 the Seghesios bought 56 acres of land for $200. They grew 
grapes and produced 100 tons of grapes at $ 12 a ton the first year. 
They sold grapes to Italian Swiss Colony, and continued to save their 
money. In 1902 they built a simple winery near Geyserville (9000 gal­
lon capacity) and dealt in bulk wine. (Sonoma County was known as 
a producer of bulk wines - wines which are held in storage tanks 

Please see page 9 
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Continued from page 8 

prior to bottling or sale to another winery under another's label) . 
Seghesio expanded, buying more acreage, buying grapes from other 
growers, and selling wine to producers like Petri Wine Co. and Frei 
Brothers in San Francisco. In 1919, due to Prohibition, Edoardo shut 
down his winery. He bought Italian Swiss Colony and he and Angela 
were sole proprietors for one year. They sold to the Rossi brothers, 
but remained partners until 1933. Edoardo died in 1934, but the 
family and their business continued. 

First tank car wine shipped from Neroo Winery after repeal of the 18th 
Amendment. Photo taken August 22, 1934 by Ed Neroo 

Nervo 

In 1890 Frank Nervo and his wife Maria left Venice, Italy, and 
came to Sonoma County. Frank worked at Italian Swiss Colony 

and earned $1.00 per day, plus room and board. In 1896 they 
bought 250 acres to the north of Healdsburg. This property already 
had Zinfandel vineyards and a small winery. 

In 1908 Nervo built a stone winery next to the railroad tracks, with 
the intention of shipping wine across the country. Redwood tanks 
were put on the upper level of the winery, and the crusher below. The 
must was piped upstairs by steam power to the open tanks, and after 
fermentation the juice was delivered by gravity to the storage tanks, 
and the leftovers in the fermenters were delivered to the press to 
squeeze out any liquid. The finished wine was shipped by rail to New 
Orleans, Chicago, New York and San Francisco in 50 gallon barrels. 
During Prohibition Nervo left his wine aging in redwood tanks. After 
Repeal he enlarged the winery. 

Pedroncelli 

John Pedroncelli left Lombardy, Italy at the age of 16 and came to 
California. He first homesteaded a 160 acre ranch near Pitt 

River. In 192 7 he purchased the J. Canata winery in Dry Creek Valley, 
which had been founded in 1905. Pedroncelli was interested in wine 
making and he thought about growing and selling grapes to his 
friends (who were amateur wine makers). He cleared the land and 
planted a mixed burgundy vineyard. He produced simple red and 
white wine, which he sold in barrels and gallon jugs mainly to the 
Italian communities in and around San Francisco. ~ 

Sources for both wine articles: 
di Franco, J. Philip 

1996 The Italian Americans New York: Chelsea House Publishers 
Finley, Ernest Latimer. editor 

1937 History of Sonoma Coun!)! California Santa Rosa: The Press Democrat Publishing Co. 
Gregory, Thomas 

191 I History of Sonoma Coun!)! Los Angeles: Historic Record Company 
Latimer, Patricia 

1976 California Wineries Vol. TI: Sonoma and Mendocino St. Helena: Vintage Image 
LeBaron, Gaye, Joann Mitchell, Dee Blackman and Haivey Hansen 

1985 Sama Rosa- A Nineteenth Century Town Santa Rosa: Historia, Ltd. 
Myers, Jim 

1993 "Italian Immigration to Healdsburg, 1870-1900" paper for SSU History class, on file at the 
Healdsburg Museum 

Nervo, Ed 
1998 correspondence, Healdsburg Museum Archives 

Oral histories at the Sonoma County Wine library 
Bagnini, Foppiano, Simi, Scalione, Cuneo 

Pinney, Thomas 
1989 A History of Wine in America Berkeley: University of California Press 

Pisenti, Janet 
1989 ~ Cousins fIQID l!l!!)' Santa Rosa: Northwestern Graphics 

Street, Richard Steven 
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Over a Barrel: the Life of 
Lidio Bellagio, Healdsburg's 
Master Cooper 
by Holly Hoods 

\VJinemakers will tell you that great wine 
W is created by the magic that happens 

during the fermentation process: the interac­
tion between grape, cask and time. For cen­
turies, the creation and repair of wooden 
barrels and tanks has been the skilled trade 
of the cooper. In Healdsburg, the name 
"Bellagio" became synonymous with cooper­
age during the1930s. 

Early to Work 

Lidio A. Bellagio was born in 1896 in 
Maloja, Switzerland into an all-too-early 

life of labor. He developed his woodworking 
skills as a boy when economic hardship 
forced him to quit school in the fourth grade 
to take a job to help support the family. He 
never returned to formal education. A cabi­
net maker hired young Lidio and trained him 
as a woodworker, encouraging his natural 
abilities. The boy grew to manhood as a 
skilled cabinet maker. 

Lidio fell in love with and married Palmira 
Rogantini, a quiet beauty from Piuro, Italy. 
They made quite a handsome pair: muscular 
Lidio with his thick dark hair, vivid blue eyes 
and dashing, waxed mustache; and Palmira, 
graceful and slender, with upswept hair, 
laughing eyes and a gentle smile. Soon they 
had a daughter Lidia, the image of her moth­
er, followed by son, Aldo. Llke many who 
immigrated to this country before them, Lidio 
and Palmira dreamed of greater prosperity. 

Moving to America 

In 1923, at age 27, Lidio left Italy to come 
to America, encouraged by optimistic 

reports about work from his cousin in Idaho. 
His wife and two children remained behind in 
Italy, while he sought to establish himself in 
the new country. He went first to Idaho 
where he worked as a cabinet maker, then to 
Salt Lake City, then to San Francisco. He 
worked and saved until seven years later, 

Lidio Bellagio, premier cooper, whose work became highly sought after because of his exacting standards, 
welt-crafted products and reasonable prices. 

Palmira was able to join him, bringing Aldo 
and Lidia over on the long ocean crossing. 
Lidio had found employment as a cooper at 
Acme Brewing in San Francisco's North 
Beach. There he worked for about six years, 
gaining the skills and knowledge of the coop­
er trade to establish his own business. 
Among other things, he learned how to make 
his own cooper tools: a set of which is still 
prized by the family. Son John was born in 
San Francisco in 1931. 

The Bellagios in Healdsburg 
The Bellagio family moved from San 

Francisco in 1932, drawn to Healdsburg by a 
reported need for cooper work in the area. 
They moved up to the Molinari ranch in 
upper Dry Creek for the first year. Daughter 
Lldia later married John Molinari. The sur­
viving Bellagios mourn her passing at age 76 
last May. 

Around 1934, the family moved into town. 
They first rented a home on the corner of 
Powell Avenue and Prince Street, then moved 
to Ward Street. In 1935, they purchased the 
Hassett home at 523 University Street from 
Barbas Cellia, across the street from what is 
now Recreation Park. Lidio built a work­
shop, which still stands today, at the back of 
the property. They planted a large garden 
and grew everything for the family table, 
including lettuce, string beans, potatoes, 
onions and beets. They also raised chickens, 
rabbits and goats, and made their own 
sausage. Son Mike (Mickey) remembers 
Earl Osborn borrowing the goats to serve as 
lawn mowers at Recreation Park! 

Satisfied Customers 

Working out of his cooper shop on 
University Street, enterprising Lldio 

became the premier cooper of the area. His 
work became highly sought after in the wine 
industry because of his exacting standards, 
well-crafted products and more-than-reason­
able prices. More artist than businessman, 
however, his prices were a little too reason­
able for his own good--and his own cost of 
living. He had a large family to support, yet 
only charged his customers $1-1.50 per hour 
in the late 1940s. His urge to provide for his 
family was so strong that it kept him working, 
always working. He took jobs--big or small­
-wherever they were offered, all over the 
state. During World War II, he was hired by 
Frank Towle to build water tanks for Christian 
Brothers and for the Army Base. His sons 
remember him packing up his tools to jour­
ney to Delano and Fairfield to repair wine 
tanks. He would frequently be gone for a 
week at a time. 

On-call to the Wine Industry 
Lldio did a lot of work for Italian Swiss 

Colony at Asti, building, testing and repairing 
their cooperage. He built storage tanks that 
are still in use today at Pedroncelli, Foppiano, 
Beringer, Gallo, Christian Brothers and Napa 
Valley Coop. He also repaired their casks. 
He erected water tanks for Waldo Iversen at 
Camp Rose and at the Hollis Black Ranch on 
River Road in Cloverdale. He felt a respon­
sibility to be on-call to the wine industry, and 
to stand behind his work. He would come 

Please see page 11 
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Continued from page I 0 

out in emergencies if a tank sprang a leak, 
and do whatever was necessary to make the 
tank hold. 

A good deal of Lidio's business came from 
repair work to 55 gallon barrels. This wasn't 
because the barrels weren't sturdy; in fact, 
quite the contrary. People commonly reused 
barrels again and again, and over time they 
sustained damage or needed to be rejuvenat­
ed. Lidio replaced broken heads and staves, 
and made new hoops to rebuild barrels as 
good as new. He tested them for leaks by fill­
ing them with water. 

Enjoying Life 

Despite--or perhaps because of--his tax­
ing work schedule, Lidio made plenty 

of room for fun in his life. He made 250 gal­
lons of his own wine every year from 
Zinfandel, Ruby Cabernet and Golden Shasta 
grapes. He grew the grapes on a parcel of 
land on Limerick Lane. He dug a basement 
by hand, and stored the wine there in barrels. 
The Bellagio home became a lively hub of the 
Italian social scene of Healdsburg. The wine 
flowed freely on weekends. Friday nights, 
folks came over and socialized and played 
King Pedro, a popular Italian card game. On 
Sundays, the men got together for games of 
bocce. Most everyone belonged to St. John's 
Church. 

First Bocce Ball Court in Town 

Lidio Bellagio was one of the first people 
to have a bocce ball court in 

Healdsburg. He constructed and maintained 
a court for years in his backyard, complete 
with a crushed layer of seashell. Before a 
bocce session, it was important to get the 
playing surface perfectly prepared, with the 
shell crushed, sprinkled and rolled out even­
ly with a heavy, metal roller. Eight to ten 
Italian fellas would take turns playing bocce 
in the midday or evening [ Ser Arnold 
Santucci's article about bocce ball this issue 
for more about the game.] . Their wives 
would visit on the sidelines, and crochet and 
embroider. The men joked and teased each 
other throughout the game, and played com­
petitively. They drank Grace Brothers' beer 
and puffed on little Italian cigars, 
"Tuscanellis", clamped between their teeth. 
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The Bel/agio family in the Spring of 1944. iR.ft to right, top row, Aldo, Palmira, Catherine, Lidia and Lidia: 
bottom row, from left, Mickey, John, Gino and Alfred 

The losers had to pay 25-50 cents each to the Tank Company." 
winning opponents. At Palmira's insistence, 
Lidio installed an outhouse in the backyard to 
minimize the traffic of bocce ball players 
going in and out of the house. Usually the 
games were lively and friendly, but occasion­
ally there were disputes. In 1955, Lidio shut 
down the bocce ball court for good after 
some players got into a heated argument. 

Family Life 

Lidio and Palmira raised seven children: 
Lidia (born in 1922), Aldo (1924) , 

John (1931) , Alfred (1933), Mike (1935), 
Gino (1937) and Catherine (1942). Italian 
was always spoken by Lidio and Palmira at 
home and witr friends, although both of them 
did speak English. The children grew up 
bilingual. Lidio's children today remember 
him fondly as a good father and a good 
provider. One of the family's greatest losses 
was the tragic death of oldest son Aldo in 
World War II. 

Father and Son in the Cooper Business 
A round 1956, son Alfred got out of the 

1\A.ir Force, and asked to join his father 
in his cooper business soon after. Lidio was 
proud that his son wanted to continue in the 
same skilled trade, but they were worried 
about whether the business could support 
them. Al's first move was to raise the rock 
bottom prices. By 1958, the name of the 
business was changed to "A. Bellagio, Wood 
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Lidio taught his son that quality came first 
and that it was important to do a job right. 
He encouraged Alfred to take pride in his 
work By age 65, Lidio was ready for semi­
retirement. He quit driving and stopped 
doing the heavy work Alfred continued to 
run the cooper business with Lawrence Biagi 
for a number of years. Lawrence had worked 
for the George Windeler Company on Gerald 
Avenue in San Francisco. When the Windeler 
Company went out of business, Lawrence and 
Alfred bought a lot of the company's equip­
ment and went into partnership together. 
When Lawrence was ready to retire, Al 
bought out his share of the business. He con­
tinued to build an excellent reputation in the 
wine industry. 

Lidio died in 1978 and Palmira ten years 
later. Alfred passed on the skills and knowl­
edge of the cooper trade to his stepson, Gene 
Nelson. Since Alfred died in 1989, Gene has 
operated "A. Bellagio Wood Tank Company" 
on Grant School Road off of Old Redwood 
Highway on his own. He specializes in red­
wood water and wine tanks. The Bellagio 
legacy of skilled coopering lives on. ~ 

Sources: 
Mike (Mickey) and Betty Gromo Bellagio 
Gino Bellagio 
Gene Nelson 
Healdsburg Tribune,June IO, 1998 
"Cooperage" file at Sonoma County Wine Library 
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